IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
Plaintiff and Respondent

٧.

LEWIS DOWL, Defendant and Appellant FILED WITH PERMISSION

SUPREME COURT

FEB 2 - 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrigh Olerh

Deputy

Fifth Appellate District, No. F057384 Kern County Superior Court No. BF125801A Honorable Kenneth C. Twisselman II, Judge

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CENTRAL CALIFORNIA APPELLATE PROGRAM

S182621

GEORGE BOND Executive Director

S. MICHELLE MAY Staff Attorney State Bar No. 111072 2407 J Street, Suite 301 Sacramento, CA 95816 (916) 441-3792

Counsel for the Petitioner LEWIS DOWL

STATEMENT OF ISSUES IN PETITION FOR REVIEW

Under California Rules of Court, rule 8.520(b)(2)(A), the Court's November 10, 2010 order specifying issues to be briefed was as follows:

"In the matter of *People v. Lewis Marcus Dowl* (S182621), review granted on July 21, 2010, the parties are ordered to limit their briefing to the following issue: whether the People, when confronted with a medical marijuana defense, must call an expert with experience distinguishing lawful, medical possession from unlawful possession to establish that defendant possessed marijuana for sale. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.516(a)(1).)"

INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW

Petitioner's answer to this Court's question follows the rules of substantial evidence review, as implemented in this specific type of case by *People v. Hunt* (1971) 4 Cal.3d 231 ["*Hunt*"]. In this case, the answer is yes, as it was in *Hunt* in an analogous area of lawful controlled substance possession. But it would not be so in all cases.

The answer in each case will follow a well defined set of rules:

- (1) The witness's opinion is not substantial evidence when:
- (a) either a lay witness, or an expert who lacks have expertise in distinguishing unlawful possession of a controlled substance (e.g., possession for trafficking) from lawful possession, gives an opinion that purports to distinguish one from the other,
- (b) in a situation where the distinction would be beyond the common knowledge of everyday jurors.
- (2) If the defendant raises a lawful possession defense, but everyday jurors can draw reasonable inferences from the evidence that the possession was unlawful, then no expert is required. In that event, if the People call a witness with no expertise in distinguishing lawful from unlawful possession, his or her opinion is not substantial evidence (see (1) above) but it is also not needed for conviction.
- (3) Otherwise, an expert who can distinguish the two is required. That was true in *People v. Hunt*, and is true here.

The opinion below erred in assuming that no medical marijuana expert was required here. It theorized that because a medical marijuana defense is an "affirmative defense," the prosecution has no burden of proof when the defendant raises such a defense, and therefore the prosecution doesn't have to call an expert competent in this area. While a medical marijuana defense is an "affirmative defense," it is one for which a defendant has only a burden of raising a reasonable doubt, and the prosecution has the ultimate burden of persuasion. (People v. Mower (2002) 28 Cal.4th 457, 479-480 ["Mower"].) If the defendant raises a reasonable doubt, the prosecution must produce substantial evidence to refute the defense. It must therefore call an expert competent in this area – one beyond everyday jurors' common knowledge – if there would not be substantial evidence to support conviction without such an expert.

Since Mr. Dowl's evidence raised a reasonable doubt, the prosecution had the ultimate burden of persuasion. Here as in *Hunt*, it failed to offer an expert who could distinguish lawful from unlawful possession, and there was no other substantial evidence to support a conviction. As in *Hunt*, the judgment should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By information filed on December 18, 2008 (1CT 71), Mr. Dowl was charged with these offenses alleged to have occurred on November 29, 2008:

Count One: Transportation of marijuana (Health and

Safety Code, § 11360, subd. (a)), with a gang enhancement (Penal Code, § 186.22,

subd. (b))

Count Two: Possession of marijuana for sale (Health

and Safety Code, § 11359), with a gang enhancement (Penal Code, § 186.22, subd.

(b))

Count Three: Active participation in a criminal street gang

(Penal Code, § 186.22, subd. (a))

On February 27, 2009, the jury returned its verdicts (1CT 167-168):

Count One: Guilty - Transportation of marijuana

Not True - Gang enhancement allegation

Count Two: Guilty - Possession of marijuana for sale

Not True - Gang enhancement allegation

Count Three: Not Guilty - Active participation in a

criminal street gang

On March 27, 2009, Mr. Dowl was sentenced to a 3-year prison term, consisting of the middle term of 3 years on count 1, and the middle term of 2 years on count 2 stayed under Penal Code section 654. (1CT 178.)

Mr. Dowl filed a timely notice of appeal on March 27, 2009.

(1CT 180.) On April 6, 2010, the Court of Appeal issued its opinion affirming the judgment. The portion of the opinion certified for publication (Part I), printed at 183 Cal.App.4th 702, is the portion that relates to the issue on review before this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Solely for purposes of this brief, Mr. Dowl accepts the statement of facts in the opinion below. (Slip op., at pp. 2-4.)

ARGUMENT

I. This Case Is Substantively Indistinguishable From Hunt

A. Overview

This case is substantively indistinguishable from Justice Mosk's opinion for a unanimous Court in *People v. Hunt, supra,* 4 Cal.3d 231. If this Court follows *Hunt*, then Mr. Dowl's conviction should be reversed.

While the Court of Appeal in this case purported to distinguish *Hunt*, its effort foundered, because it failed to fully grasp the reasoning of *Hunt*. It also failed to fully grasp the analysis and applicability of this Court's more recent opinion in *People v. Mower*, *supra*, 28 Cal.4th 457.

B. Hunt

In *Hunt*, the defendant was found with four 30 cc vials of methedrine, a plastic box with four capsules of pentobarbital, three tablets of amphetamine, some needles, four envelopes with syringes, and another needle in his arm. At the time, he was with a heavy methedrine user who had a book reciting narcotics transactions. Hunt's vials had pharmacy labels bearing a physician's name, the physician gave generalized testimony that didn't preclude lawful possession, and Hunt testified that he obtained the methedrine by lawful prescriptions for narcotics. Akin to the present case, the

prosecution presented an officer who had extensive training, education and experience on the subject of trafficking in controlled substances, who provided testimony on matters such as illegal use and street price of methodrine, and gave his opinion that Hunt possessed the methodrine for sale. (*Id.* at pp. 234-235.) Hunt was convicted of possession for sale. (*Id.* at p. 233.)

Had there been no evidence of lawful possession in *Hunt*, the officer's opinion would have been substantial evidence supporting a conviction, because the officer had experience in distinguishing unlawful simple possession from unlawful trafficking (possession for sale). (*See People v. Newman* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 48, 53.) However, he had no experience distinguishing unlawful trafficking or possession from <u>lawful</u> possession, and there was substantial evidence of lawful possession. That was fatal to the conviction:

As to drugs, which may be purchased by prescription [i.e., lawfully], the officer may have experience with regard to unlawful sales but there is no reason to believe that he will have any substantial experience with the numerous citizens who lawfully purchase the drugs for their own use as medicine for illness.

In the absence of evidence of some circumstance not to be expected in connection with a patient lawfully using the drugs as medicine, an officer's opinion that possession of lawfully prescribed drugs is for purposes of sale is worthy of little or no weight and should not constitute substantial evidence sufficient to sustain the conviction. No such special circumstances were shown here

(Hunt, 4 Cal.3d at pp. 237-238 [all emphasis added]; see also People v. Newman, supra, 5 Cal.3d at p. 53 [stating same principles, in affirming when there was no evidence of lawful possession].)

Because the expert's testimony was not substantial evidence that could refute the defense of lawful possession, and because there was no substantial evidence of unlawful possession without an expert, this Court reversed Hunt's conviction for insufficiency of the evidence. (Hunt, 4 Cal.3d at p. 238.)

Underlying *Hunt* was a legal foundational matter – a conviction in that case would have <u>required</u> competent expert testimony in order to be supported by substantial evidence. Were it otherwise, Hunt's conviction would have been affirmed even though the officer's testimony was not substantial evidence. But instead, this Court reversed, which necessarily meant that adequate expert evidence was required to sustain the conviction.

The reason there was insufficient evidence in *Hunt* – lack of competent expert testimony to distinguish unlawful trafficking from lawful possession, when a defense of lawful possession was raised by substantial evidence, and there was no substantial evidence to refute that defense without an expert – is the problem here.

There was nothing in *Hunt* to suggest that jurors could themselves have distinguished the factors that characterized

unlawful possession-for-sale, from factors that characterized lawful possession. Such distinctions are generally outside of common knowledge, and nothing in *Hunt* indicated otherwise.

Consequently, a competent expert was needed. "If the matter in issue is one within the knowledge of experts only and not within the common knowledge of laymen, it is necessary for the plaintiff to introduce expert opinion evidence in order to establish a prima facie case." (Miller v. Los Angeles City Flood Control Dist. (1973) 8 Cal.3d 689, 702 [italics in original]; Carson v. Facilities Dev't Co. (1984) 36 Cal.3d 840, 844; Huffman v. Lindquist (1951) 37 Cal.2d 465, 473.) This standard applies with slight variation to a case like *Hunt* or this one, because before the prosecution has to make a prima facie case, the defense must first meet its burden of proof (production) of raising a reasonable doubt (see People v. Mower, supra, 28 Cal.4th at pp. 479-480), as happened in *Hunt* and Mr. Dowl's case. But once the defendant does so in such a case, the prosecution must provide competent expert evidence to overcome the affirmative defense, if there is no substantial evidence to support a conviction without it.

In short, if the question presented in this Court's issue specification order of November 10, 2010 had been posed in *Hunt*, the answer would have been: **Yes**, under the facts of a case such as

Hunt or this one, where there would have been no substantial evidence to support a conviction without competent expert testimony.

Hunt controls here. The Court of Appeal's judgment should be reversed for insufficiency of evidence under state law and the Fourteenth Amendment. (Jackson v. Virginia (1979) 443 U.S. 307.)

C. Expert Opinion Testimony And Substantial Evidence

Hunt is merely a routine application of long-established principles of expert evidence, such as: (1) the mere fact that someone who qualifies as an expert in an area testifies to an opinion, doesn't necessarily make that opinion substantial evidence; (2) if a witness (other than a fact witness) gives opinion testimony in an area in which he or she is not an expert, that testimony will not be substantial evidence; and (3) a witness can qualify as an expert in some areas but not be an expert in others, even if the areas are somewhat related.

The first two of those principles were applied directly in *Hunt*, by reference to an oft-cited opinion of this Court:

In People v. Bassett, 69 Cal.2d 122, 141, Justice Mosk, speaking for a unanimous court, stated: "The chief value of an expert's testimony in this field, as in all other fields, rests upon the material from which his opinion is fashioned and the reasoning by which he progresses from his material to his conclusion . . . it does not lie in his mere expression of conclusion.' (Italics added.) [Citation.] In short, 'Expert evidence is really an argument of an expert to the court, and is valuable only in regard to the proof of the facts and the validity

of the *reasons* advanced for the conclusions' (Italics added.) [Citations.]

(People v. Hunt, supra, 4 Cal.3d at p. 237.)

As *Hunt* shows, when a witness (other than a fact witness) gives opinion testimony on a given matter, and the record does not show the witness has expertise with respect to that matter, then the witness's reasoning carries no substantial weight as evidence. Such a witness lacks the specialized knowledge to engage in reasoning that experts in the field would use, and to apply such expert reasoning to the case in the form of an opinion. As an illustration, the undersigned counsel hase opinions on a lot of things, she might qualify as an expert on a few, and she can certainly give her opinions to anyone who will listen. But that does not mean her opinions in areas for which she has no specialized knowledge would be substantial evidence in a court of law. (See also People v. Chakos (2007) 158 Cal.App.4th 357, 368-369 ["Chakos"] ["The record fails to show that Deputy Cormier [who qualified as an expert in determining types of unlawful possession] is any more familiar than the average layperson or the members of this court with the patterns of lawful possession for medicinal use that would allow him to differentiate them from unlawful possession for sale." [italics in original].)

A witness can be an expert in some fields but not others, and the field of a witness's expertise is defined with specificity. "The competency of an expert is relative to the topic and fields of knowledge about which the person is asked to make a statement. In considering whether a person qualifies as an expert, the field of expertise must be carefully distinguished and limited." (*People v. Williams* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 1112, 1136; see also People v. Hogan (1982) 31 Cal.3d 815, 852 ["[T]he qualifications of an expert must be related to the particular subject upon which he is giving expert testimony. Qualifications on related subject matter are insufficient."])

As should be self-evident, if someone who is not qualified as an expert in an area testifies on a matter that requires expert evidence, the nonexpert testimony will not be substantial evidence. (Accord, e.g., Truman v. Vargas (1969) 275 Cal.App.2d 976, 980-983; Pacific Employers Ins. Co. v. Industrial Accident Comm. (1941) 47 Cal.App.2d 494, 501-502; People v. Chapple (2006) 138 Cal.App.4th 540, 548-549.)¹

The defendant's testimony cannot create substantial evidence where none otherwise exists, since mere disbelief of a defendant's testimony is not itself substantial evidence. (*Beck Development Co. v. Southern Pacific Transportation Co.* (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 1160, 1205; *Casetta v. United States Rubber Co.* (1968) 260 Cal.App.2d 792, 808.)

Consequently, even if a witness might qualify as an expert in some fields, the opinion of a witness (other than a fact witness) that is outside of those fields – and therefore, beyond the scope of his or her expertise - is not substantial evidence. And this Court has so held: "A[n] opinion extended beyond the range of the [witness's] expertise, cannot rise to a higher level than its own inadequate premises. Such reports do not constitute [substantial] evidence" (Zemke v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1968) 68 Cal.2d 794, 801 [underscoring added].) Published opinions have applied this basic principle of expert evidence in a variety of contexts. (See, e.g., Zemke, at p. 801; Bowman v. City of Berkeley (2004) 122 Cal.App.4th 572, 583; Cathay Mortuary v. San Francisco Planning Commission (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 275, 281; cf. In re Marriage of Hewitson (1983) 142 Cal. App. 3d 874, 885-887 [if trial court's factual determination is based solely or largely on the opinion of an expert, it will not be substantial evidence unless it satisfies the criteria for admissibility; judgment reversed for lack of substantial evidence].)

These statements of law are merely outgrowths of another fundamental principle: Opinions without adequate foundation are not substantial evidence. This Court so held in the *Bassett* case upon which it relied in *Hunt* (*Bassett*, *supra*, 69 Cal.2d at pp. 146, 148), and the principle has been stated in numerous other cases as well.

(See, e.g., In re Alexander L. (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 605, 611-612; Stephen v. Ford Motor Co. (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 1363, 1371-1373; People v. \$47,050 (1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 1319, 1325; Atiya v. DiBartolo (1976) 63 Cal.App.3d 121, 126; Estate of Teed (1952) 112 Cal.App.2d 638, 646.) "The ipse dixit of the most profound expert proves nothing except [as] it finds support upon some adequate foundation." (Bassett, 69 Cal.2d at p. 146 [quoting Estate v. Teed, supra, 112 Cal.App.2d at p. 646]; accord, e.g., Griffith v. County of Los Angeles (1968) 267 Cal.App.2d 837, 847.)

Hunt's reliance on Bassett makes even clearer what should already be obvious: When a witness (other than a fact witness) gives an opinion in an area in which he or she is not an expert, and which is beyond the common knowledge of everyday jurors, the opinion lacks adequate foundation and is not substantial evidence. Because the opinion witness in Hunt was not an expert in the only area germane to the defense – namely, <u>lawful</u> controlled substance possession – his opinion was not substantial evidence that could support a conviction. So too here.

The above is also inherent in the definition of substantial evidence. As this Court held in *Bassett*, on which *Hunt* relied (4 Cal.3d at p. 237), the term "substantial evidence" –

. . . . clearly implies that such evidence must be of ponderable legal significance. Obviously the word cannot be deemed synonymous with "any" evidence. It must be reasonable in nature, credible, and of solid value; it must actually be "substantial" proof of the essentials which the law requires in a particular case.

(Bassett, supra, 69 Cal.2d at pp. 138-139 [quoting Estate of Teed, supra, 112 Cal.App.2d at p. 644]; see also People v. Redmond (1969) 71 Cal.2d 745, 756 ["To justify a criminal conviction, the trier of fact [must] have reasonably rejected all that undermines confidence. [Citation.] Accordingly, in determining whether the record is sufficient in this respect the appellate court can give credit only to 'substantial' evidence, i.e., evidence that reasonably inspires confidence and is of solid value."]) Opinion testimony of a witness that lacks foundation for any reason – including that the witness is not an expert in the relevant field when that field is beyond common knowledge – is not of "solid value," nor is it "substantial" proof.

Hunt applied these basic principles in the specific context of a controlled substance possession that the prosecution claimed to be unlawful, and the defendant claimed to be lawful. In *Hunt*, the evidence required to make that distinction was be beyond the common experience of the typical juror, so expert testimony was required. An opinion that a defendant possessed a controlled substance for purposes of sale as opposed to personal use – based

on matters such as quantity, packaging and the normal use of an individual – will usually require expert testimony (*People v. Hunt, supra,* 4 Cal.3d at p. 237), since the common experience of everyday jurors does not extend to distinguishing illegal drug trafficking from mere illegal drug possession. But an opinion that a defendant possessed a controlled substance for purposes of sale as opposed to *lawfully* – again, based on matters such as quantity, packaging, and the normal use of an individual – will also usually require expert testimony in that area (*Hunt*, at pp. 237-238), since the common experience of everyday jurors does not extend to distinguishing illegal drug trafficking from legal drug possession.

Without more – and there was no more in *Hunt*, as there is no more in this case – it cannot be assumed that an officer who has expertise in the different types of illegal drug possession, is necessarily an expert in distinguishing the illegal from the legal. For as discussed above, a witness can be an expert in some areas but not others, and the areas in which the witness has expertise "must be carefully distinguished and limited." (*People v. Williams, supra*, 48 Cal.3d at p. 1136.) The conclusion that the officer was not an expert in lawful possession, though he was an expert in <u>unlawful</u> possession, was integral to this Court's opinion in *Hunt*. Adapting

Hunt's reasoning more generally to cases such as this one, which involve lawfulness defenses to controlled substance possession:

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