# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

LEWIS MARCUS DOWL,

Defendant and Appellant.

S182621

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 2 1 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrigh Glerk

Deput

California Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District No. F057384 Kern County Superior Court, Case No. BF125801A The Honorable Kenneth C. Twisselman, II, Judge

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
DANE R. GILLETTE
Chief Assistant Attorney General
MICHAEL P. FARRELL
Senior Assistant Attorney General
CARLOS A. MARTINEZ
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
JEFFREY GRANT
Deputy Attorney General

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

In contrast, consider the situation in which officers enter the defendant's residence. Officers discover one large bag of marijuana and electronic scales in defendant's bedroom, but do not find an instrument that could be used to ingest the marijuana. At trial, defendant presents a medical marijuana defense. Despite the disparity in the strength of the evidence between the two examples, both would lack sufficient evidence to support a conviction if the prosecutor was required, but failed, to call a medical marijuana expert.

Also, a rule requiring the prosecution to call a medical marijuana expert places too much significance on the expert's testimony. Again, take the example above in which the prosecutor presented overwhelming evidence that defendant possessed marijuana for sale. A conviction in that case would have to be reversed if the prosecutor was required to, but did not, call a medical marijuana expert. Contrast that with a situation in which the People have negligible evidence indicative of sales, yet a medical marijuana expert opines that it was possessed for sale. Under a rule requiring the People to call a medical marijuana expert, the strong case must be reversed, while the weaker case might be affirmed.

The more reasoned approach is to utilize the well-established substantial evidence test. As the *Cuevas* Court recognized, a rule requiring particular evidence as a matter of law is not desirable because it produces unsound results. (*Cuevas, supra,* 12 Cal.4th at pp. 268-269.) Thus, the People should not be required, as a matter of law, to call a medical marijuana expert whenever defendant asserts a medical defense.

This Court's decision in *People v. Hunt* (1971) 4 Cal.3d 231 (*Hunt*) does not alter the analysis above. In *Hunt*, officers, including Officer

Owens, entered Alan Hall's apartment and saw Hall and defendant. (*Id.* at p. 233.) Defendant was seated in a chair and had a syringe containing methodrine inserted into his arm. (*Ibid.*) A blue and white travel case containing four vials of methodrine, syringes, and needles was at defendant's feet. (*Id.* at pp. 233-234.) Defendant had prescriptions for the vials. (*Id.* at p. 234.) Hall was found holding a notebook that contained entries such as "2-5-68, pay \$20 for deal on two vials of meth." (*Ibid.*) A suitcase found near Hall contained, among other things, syringes and needles, and four vials of methodrine. (*Ibid.*)

At the trial, Officer Owens, who had significant experience relating to the possession and sale of dangerous drugs, testified that, in his opinion, the methedrine found in the blue and white travel case was possessed for sale. (*Hunt, supra,* 4 Cal.3d at pp. 234-235.) A Dr. Smith testified that he had prescribed methedrine to both Hall and defendant. (*Id.* at p. 235.) Defendant testified that he had a prescription for methedrine and that he never sold it. (*Ibid.*) The jury convicted defendant of unlawfully possessing methedrine for sale. (*Id.* at p. 233.)

This Court reversed, finding the evidence insufficient to sustain the conviction. (*Hunt, supra,* 4 Cal.3d at p. 238.) The Court found that the drugs in the blue and white case belonged to defendant alone and that the drugs in the suitcase belonged to Hall alone. (*Id.* at p. 237.) The Court's reasoning relevant to the issue presented in this case is as follows:

In cases involving possession of marijuana and heroin, it is settled that an officer with experience in the narcotics field may give his opinion that the narcotics are held for purposes of sale based upon matters such as quantity, packaging, and the normal use of an individual. On the basis of such testimony convictions of possession for purposes of sale have been upheld. [Citations.]

A different situation is presented where an officer testifies that in his opinion a drug, which can and has been lawfully purchased by prescription, is being held unlawfully for purposes of sale. In the heroin and marijuana situations, the officer experienced in the narcotics field is experienced with the habits of both those who possess for their own use and those who possess for sale because both groups are engaged in unlawful conduct. As to drugs, which may be purchased by prescription, the officer may have experience with regard to unlawful sales but there is no reason to believe that he will have any substantial experience with the numerous citizens who lawfully purchase the drugs for their own use as medicine for illness.

In the absence of evidence of some circumstances not to be expected in connection with a patient lawfully using the drugs as medicine, an officer's opinion that possession of lawfully prescribed drugs is for purposes of sale is worthy of little or no weight and should not constitute substantial evidence to sustain the conviction. No such special circumstances were shown here as to the methodrine in the blue and white travel case.

(*Id.* at pp. 237-238.)

As appellant points out, *Hunt* did not announce a new rule, but merely applied existing legal principles. (AOB 9-16.) The principles *Hunt* relied on remain unchanged, namely that:

The chief value of an expert's testimony ... rests upon the *material* from which his opinion is fashioned and the *reasoning* by which he progresses from his material to his conclusion; ... it does not lie in his mere expression of conclusion. (Italics added.) [Citation.] In short, Expert evidence is really an argument of an expert to the court, and is valuable only in regard to the proof of the *facts* and the validity of the *reasons* advanced for the conclusions. (Italics added.) [Citations.]

Hunt, supra, 4 Cal.3d at p. 237, quoting People v. Bassett (1968) 69 Cal.2d 122, 141, internal quotation marks omitted.) Hunt merely applied the above to the facts before the Court when it stated:

In the absence of evidence of some circumstances not to be expected in connection with a patient lawfully using the drugs as medicine, an officer's opinion that possession of lawfully prescribed drugs is for purposes of sale is worthy of little or no weight and should not constitute substantial evidence to sustain the conviction.

(*Hunt*, at p. 238.)

Logically, an officer's opinion that a defendant possesses lawfully prescribed drugs for sale is entitled to little weight if no evidence, other than the officer's opinion, exists to contradict the lawful possession. But *Hunt* did not create a per se rule. *Hunt* acknowledges that, when circumstances suggest that defendant was not lawfully using drugs as medicine, an expert on unlawful drug possession and sales is within their realm of expertise, even if defendant claims medicinal use. In such a case, the expert's opinion carries weight when determining whether sufficient evidence exists to support the judgment.

In sum, *Hunt* does not suggest that a medical marijuana expert is necessary in every prosecution involving a medical marijuana defense. *Hunt* merely reinforces the rule that an expert's opinion is only as good as its factual foundation.

The Court of Appeal in *People v. Chakos* (2007) 158 Cal. App. 4th 357 (*Chakos*) erroneously interpreted *Hunt* to require the People to produce medical marijuana expert testimony when confronted with a medical marijuana defense. In *Chakos*, officers searched defendant's car and found a backpack that contained about a quarter of an ounce of marijuana in a plastic bag, \$781 in cash, and a doctor's medical slip for lawful marijuana use. (*Id.* at p. 360.) Officers then searched defendant's apartment and found about six ounces of marijuana, "in different storage devices, and in *irregular* amounts," along with 99 empty phlebotomist baggies, a digital scale, and a camera system monitoring the apartment's front door. (*Id.* at pp. 360-361, original italics.) Defendant was a phlebotomist. (*Id.* at p. 360.)

At trial, the prosecutor called a single witness, Deputy Cormier, who testified as a percipient witness and provided his opinion as an expert witness. (*Chakos, supra,* 158 Cal.App.4th at p. 361.) Cormier had

Significant experience in identifying marijuana possessed for sale. (*Ibid.*) Cormier did not have experience in identifying marijuana lawfully possessed for medical purposes. (*Id.* at p. 362.) At trial, Cormier opined that "the 'totality of the circumstances' led him to the conclusion that the marijuana (about six ounces total) was being possessed for sale." (*Ibid.*) Defendant's doctor testified that he had recommended a dosage of about one quarter to one half ounce per week for defendant. (*Id.* at p. 363.) Defendant's mother stated that she had bought the camera system for defendant's brother. (*Ibid.*) A jury convicted defendant of possession of marijuana for sale. (*Id.* at p. 359.)

On appeal, defendant argued that insufficient evidence existed to support the conviction. (*Chakos, supra,* 158 Cal.App.4th at p. 363.) In its opinion, the Court of Appeal discussed *Hunt* at length and noted that the Attorney General had a difficult time distinguishing *Hunt* from the situation in *Chakos*. (*Id.* at p. 365.) The court then noted that Cormier did not "show any expertise in the ability to distinguish lawful from unlawful possession." (*Id.* at p. 368.) Finally, the court concluded:

The *record* fails to show that Deputy Cormier is any more familiar than the average layperson or the members of this court with the *patterns of lawful possession for medicinal use* that would allow him to differentiate them from unlawful possession for sale.

In other words, Cormier was unqualified to render an *expert* opinion in this case. Under *Hunt*, that means there was insufficient evidence to sustain the conviction. (See *Hunt*, *supra*, 4 Cal.3d at p. 238, 93 Cal.Rptr. 197, 481 P.2d 205.)

(Id. at pp. 368-369, original italics.)

Chakos incorrectly interpreted Hunt to require a medical marijuana expert in each case involving a medical marijuana defense. According to Chakos, Hunt "began its analysis by recognizing that the evidence of possession for sale might indeed have been sufficient in a case where there

was no possibility of lawful possession." (Chakos, supra, 158 Cal.App. at p. 364, original italics.) That interpretation ignores *Hunt*'s statement that the expert opinion in that case lacked weight because the evidence lacked "some circumstances not to be expected in connection with a patient lawfully using the drugs as medicine." (*Hunt, supra,* 4 Cal.3d at p. 238, emphasis added.)

As noted, *Hunt* stands for the proposition that an expert's opinion is only as good as the facts supporting it. It does not, as *Chakos* implies, strip an expert with experience identifying marijuana possessed for personal use and sale of his or her expertise whenever a medical marijuana defense is raised. Contrarily, if a case involves some circumstances indicative of illegal possession, then such an expert's opinion based on those facts is entitled to consideration, even if the defendant raises a medical marijuana defense. *Hunt* does not require the prosecutor to call an expert in lawful, medical possession, excusing the requirement only for the case in which the evidence presents *no possibility* of lawful possession. To the extent *Chakos* holds otherwise, it is incorrect, and should be disapproved.

In contrast to *Chakos*, this Court's decision in *People v. Wright* suggests that expert testimony regarding medical marijuana is unnecessary in every medical marijuana case. In *Wright*, officers received a tip that a backpack in a Toyota pickup truck "reeked of marijuana." (*Wright*, *supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 85.) Officers stopped the truck and confronted the defendant, who was driving the truck. (*Ibid.*) The defendant exited the truck holding a backpack, and he denied that there was marijuana in the truck. (*Ibid.*) Officers located a small baggie of marijuana in defendant's pants pocket, along with six small baggies of marijuana, two large baggies of marijuana, and an electronic scale in the backpack. (*Id.* at p. 86.) The small baggies contained about thirty grams. (*Ibid.*) In the truck, officers found a bag

containing about one pound of marijuana. (*Ibid.*) Defendant was charged with possessing marijuana for sale and transporting marijuana. (*Ibid.*)

At trial, two officers testified that defendant possessed the marijuana to sell. (*Wright, supra,* 40 Cal.4th at p. 86.) They based their opinions on "the quantity of marijuana in defendant's possession, the manner in which it was packaged and concealed in his vehicle, and the presence of the scale in his backpack." (*Ibid.*) Following the officers' testimony, the court conducted an Evidence Code section 402 hearing on defendant's request for a CUA jury instruction. (*Ibid.*) Dr. Eidelman testified that defendant had medical issues and that he recommended that defendant use marijuana to treat those issues. (*Id.* at pp. 86-87.) According to Eidelman, "a pound every two or three months was consistent with the manner in which defendant stated that he ingested marijuana." (*Id.* at p. 87.) Defendant testified regarding his medical issues.

At the close of the hearing, the trial court "ruled that the CUA did not apply 'in a transportation case where we have one pound three ounces of marijuana." (*Wright, supra,* 40 Cal.4th at p. 87.) The court also rejected a CUA instruction on the possession for sale charge, but allowed the defense to present evidence of medical use to prove defendant possessed the marijuana for personal use. (*Ibid.*)

At trial, Dr. Eidelman essentially repeated his testimony from the Evidence Code section 402 hearing. (*Wright, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 87.) Defendant testified that he ingested marijuana for medical purposes and that he preferred to eat marijuana. (*Id.* at pp. 87-88.) Defendant explained that the marijuana the officers found was not in a single large bag because "it had different potencies and was used for different purposes, like cooking as opposed to smoking." (*Id.* at p. 88.) Defendant renewed his request for a CUA instruction prior to closing arguments, but it was denied. (*Ibid.*) In closing argument, defendant's counsel argued "that Dr. Eidelman's

testimony regarding the efficacy of marijuana for medical use, and the defendant's use of it to alleviate his various ailments, was uncontroverted by other expert testimony." (*Id.* at pp. 88-89.) Counsel stated, "We don't have any opposing expert saying that the doctor's opinion or testimony is just completely out of whack or in violation of some law. We have no opposing expert testimony on that issue." (*Id.* at p. 89.) The jury convicted defendant on both the sale and transportation charges. (*Ibid.*)

The Court of Appeal reversed both the sale and transportation convictions because the trial court failed to give a CUA instruction. This Court granted review to decide whether the CUA provided a defense to transporting marijuana. (*Wright, supra,* 40 Cal.4th at p. 85.) While the case was pending, the MMP rendered the issue moot. (*Ibid.*) Relevant to this case, however, the Court concluded that the trial court should have instructed the jury that the CUA provided an affirmative defense to the transportation charge, that the trial court erroneously refused to provide the instruction, and that the instructional error was harmless under federal or state standards. (*Id.* at pp. 85, 98.)

The Court's reasoning was as follows:

Under the instructions it was given, the jury had the option of convicting defendant for simple possession had it been convinced by his claim that the marijuana found in his possession was for his personal medicinal use. Instead, it found beyond a reasonable doubt that he possessed the drug with the specific intent to sell it. Accordingly, "the jury necessarily resolved, although in a different setting, the same factual question that would have been presented by the missing instruction" [citation], in a manner adverse to defendant.

(*Id.* at p. 99.) The Court then reversed the Court of Appeal and reinstated the possession for sale and transportation convictions. (*Ibid.*)

Respondent understands that *Wright* is not authority for propositions it did not consider (*People v. Jennings* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 616, 684), but it is

telling that this Court reinstated defendant's convictions when the jury received neither an instruction on the CUA nor expert testimony from the prosecution concerning medical marijuana. It may be inferred from the Court's harmless error determination that the task of distinguishing between marijuana possessed for medical use and marijuana possessed for sale is not a scientific one. Often, it is a common sense assessment that jurors may make for themselves.

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